IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NE Electronically Filed Apr 29 2014 09:03 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

BRYAN FERGASON,

Appellant,

VS.

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT,

Respondent.

Case No.: 62357

APPELLANT'S REPLACEMENT OPENING BRIEF

RYAN DANIELS, ESQ. Sylvester & Polednak Nevada Bar No. 13094 1731 Village Center Circle Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 Attorney for Appellant THOMAS JOSEPH MOREO, ESQ Chief Deputy District Attorney Clark County District Attorney 200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Flr. Las Vegas, NV 89155 Attorney for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BRYAN FERGASON,

Appellant,

Case No.: 62357

VS.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(1) in the case styled *Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept. vs U S Currency* \$281,656.73 (Case no. A537416). On November 28, 2012, the district court entered an order granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment, and notice of entry of order was filed on November 29, 2012.

A timely Notice of Appeal/Proper Person Pilot Program was filed on December 28, 2012. An order to Proceed in Forma Pauperis was filed on February 26, 2013. On September 18, 2013 this Court filed an Order Regarding Pro Bono Counsel, staying this appeal and determining that the appointment of pro bono counsel to represent the appellant would benefit the Court's review.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Nevada forfeiture statutes permit the state to acquire property that was "derived directly or indirectly from the commission or attempted commission of a crime." Bryan Fergason was forced to forfeit all the money in his bank account solely because of his criminal convictions. The criminal convictions did not determine how his money was "derived." Should the district court have entered summary judgment based only on his criminal convictions?
- 2. Issue Preclusion applies when the issues in an earlier case are identical to the issues in a later case. None of Bryan Fergason's criminal convictions presented identical issues to the issues in the forfeiture proceeding. If NRS 179.1173(5) is a form of statutory issue preclusion, did the district court apply it correctly in the forfeiture proceeding?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

On September 24, 2006 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (hereinafter "Metro") responded to a burglary call and apprehended appellant Bryan Fergason (hereinafter "Mr. Fergason") and Daimon Monroe (hereinafter "Mr. Monroe") in a van containing stolen property. APP 31. That same day, search warrants were served at 15004 Cutler Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89117 where police officers found suspected stolen property. APP 31. Mr. Fergason, Mr. Monroe, Tonya Trevarthen (hereinafter "Ms. Trevarthen"), and Robert Holmes, III (hereinafter "Mr. Holmes") were charged with six counts of Felony Possession of Stolen Property and one count of conspiracy to Possess Stolen Property. APP 31—32.

For about a month after Metro apprehended Mr. Fergason, police officers monitored telephone calls between Mr. Monroe, Mr. Fergason, Mr. Holmes and Ms. Trevarthen. APP 32. In these telephone calls, Metro learned of residences and storage units controlled by Mr. Monroe, Mr. Fergason, and Mr. Holmes. APP 32. Obtaining search warrants, Metro found stolen property at these locations and \$13,825 in U.S. bills and \$1,040.22 in loose and rolled U.S. coins. APP32—33.

¹ All references to the Appendix will be to APP _____ indicating the page number in the Appendix

Through additional investigations, Metro learned that Mr. Fergason held a bank account at Bank of America. APP 33. Police obtained a search warrant and seized \$121,216.36 from Mr. Fergason's Account. APP 33.

On March 9, 2007 Metro filed a forfeiture complaint against \$281,656.73 that allegedly represented proceeds attributable to the commission or attempted commission of a felony. APP 30—31. \$121,216.36 of that amount was seized from Mr. Fergason's bank account. APP 33.

On March 29, 2010, a jury convicted Mr. Fergason of two counts of Burglary, one count of Grand Larceny, and one count of Possession of Burglary Tools. APP 71—72. On April 3, 2009 a jury convicted Mr. Fergason of one count of Conspiracy to Possess Stolen Property and/or to Commit Burglary and 25 counts of Possession of Stolen Property. APP 64—68.

Mr. Fergason's First Count of Burglary Conviction

The information on which Mr. Fergason was found guilty for burglary, alleged that Mr. Fergason: "[1.] did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter [2.] with intent to commit larceny [3.] that certain building occupied by Anku Crystal Palace." APP 13—14. In addition, the information required that Mr. Fergason was "responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by [Mr. Fergason] directly committing the crime; and/or (2) [Mr. Fergason] aiding or abetting the other Defendant in the commission of the crime by

accompanying him to the crime scene where either one of them entered Anku Crystal Palace with intent to commit larceny; acting as lookout for each other; left the crime scene together; encouraging one another throughout by actions and words; acting in concert throughout each with intent to commit burglary; and/or (3) [Mr. Fergason and the other Defendant] acting in furtherance of a conspiracy." APP 14.

Mr. Fergason's Second Count of Burglary Conviction

The indictment on which Mr. Fergason was found guilty for burglary, alleged that Mr. Fergason: "[1.] did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter [2.] with intent to commit larceny, [3.] that certain building occupied by Just for Kids Dentistry." APP 15.

Mr. Fergason's Grand Larceny Conviction

The indictment on which Mr. Fergason was found guilty for grand larceny, alleged that Mr. Fergason: "[1.] did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously [2] with intent to deprive the owner permanently thereof [3] steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away property owned by Anku Crystal Palace [4] having a value of \$2,500.00 or more [5] statues, a crystal fixture, bracelets, a laptop computer, a game cube video game, video games and lawful money of the United States." App 14. Mr. Fergason was required to be found "responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit (1) by [Mr. Fergason] directly committing the

crime; and/or (2) [Mr. Fergason] aiding or abetting the other Defendant in the commission of the crime by accompanying him to the crime scene where either one of them entered Anku Crystal Palace with intent to commit larceny; acting as lookout for each other; left the crime scene together; encouraging one another throughout by actions and words; acting in concert throughout each with intent to commit burglary; and/or (3) [Mr. Fergason and the other Defendant] acting in furtherance of a conspiracy. APP 14

Mr. Fergason's 25 Counts of Possession of Stolen Property Conviction

The indictment on which Mr. Fergason was found guilty, alleged that Mr. Fergason "did wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously, for [his] own gain, possess property of a value of \$2500.00, or more, lawful money of the United States, wrongfully taken from [various businesses], which [Mr. Fergason] knew, or had reason to believe, that the following had been stolen: [various tangible items]." APP 1—12.

All 25 counts of Possession of stolen property consisted of tangible goods such as camping equipment, artwork, spa chemicals, and computers. *See* APP 2—7. Not one of the counts of Possession of stolen property referenced the \$121,216.36 seized from Mr. Fergason's Bank of America Account. During trial, Tonya Trevarthen testified that most of the money in *her* bank accounts "was just

cash that was made through selling the stolen property" but she never testified regarding the money in Mr. Fergason's account. *See* APP 25 and 120.

On June 5, 2012, plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment and the motion was granted.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Nevada law, a person will forfeit his property to the State, if the State can show by clear and convincing evidence that the property was "derived directly or indirectly from the commission or attempted commission of a crime." NRS 179.1161.

Bryan Fergason was required to forfeit his property to the state based on nothing more than the fact that Metro offered evidence of Mr. Fergason's convictions. However, Metro offered no evidence that the money in Mr. Fergason's bank account was directly or indirectly derived from the crimes underlying those convictions. Thus, the money in Mr. Fergason's bank account should not be forfeited.

Citing NRS 179.1173(5), the district court granted Metro its summary judgment motion on the forfeiture proceeding, stating that "the proof of the facts necessary to sustain the conviction are, therefore, conclusive evidence in this forfeiture action." APP140.

NRS 179.1173(5) is a statutory form of issue preclusion in forfeiture proceedings. It estops a defendant in the forfeiture proceeding from re-litigating certain relevant issues settled in a criminal conviction. However, the district court improperly applied NRS 179.1173(5) and precluded *all* forfeiture issues from litigation based on Mr. Fergason's criminal conviction. Because Mr. Fergason was improperly precluded from litigating relevant issues in the forfeiture proceeding, most importantly the issue of whether the money in his Bank Account was the proceeds of criminal activity, this case should be remanded and tried on the forfeiture issues that are not subject to estoppel under NRS 179.1173(5).

ARGUMENT

- A. A BURGLARY CONVICTION, A POSSESSION OF STOLEN PROPERTY CONVICTION, OR A GRAND LARCENY CONVICTION, ARE INSUFFICIENT PROOF TO SUSTAIN A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON FORFEITURE PROCEEDINGS FOR MONEY IN A BANK ACCOUNT.
 - 1. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment

This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo. Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is proper only if no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. NRCP 56(c). "[W]hen reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and any

reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

2. Introduction

In a forfeiture of proceeds lawsuit, the Nevada Revised Statutes require that a plaintiff prove by clear and convincing evidence that the property was "derived directly or indirectly from the commission or attempted commission of a crime." NRS 179.1161, NRS 179.1173(3) and NRS 179.1164(a). Furthermore, NRS 179.1173(5) states that:

The plaintiff is not required to plead or prove that a claimant has been charged with or convicted of any criminal offense. If proof of such a conviction is made, and it is shown that the judgment of conviction has become final, the proof is, as against any claimant, **conclusive evidence of all facts necessary to sustain the conviction**. (emphasis added)

In this case, Metro was required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the money in Mr. Fergason's bank account was "derived directly or indirectly from the commission or attempted commission of a crime." Thus, plaintiffs were required to introduce substantial evidence that linked the money in Mr. Fergason's account to the commission of a crime. However, no link was ever made, or even attempted. Instead, the court ordered the forfeiture because Mr. Fergason was convicted of attempted burglary, burglary, and possession of stolen property.

In support of its ruling, the Court cited NRS 179.1173(5) stating that because the judgments of conviction in the criminal cases were final, "the proof of

the facts necessary to sustain the conviction are, therefore, conclusive evidence in this forfeiture action." APP 140.

3. The Standard of Review When Interpreting The Forfeiture Statute.

Determining the meaning of NRS 179.1173(5) is a function of statutory interpretation. "Statutory interpretation is a question of law, and review of the district court's interpretation of [NRS 179.1173(5)] is also de novo." *McDonald v. D.P. Alexander & Las Vegas Boulevard*, 121 Nev. 812, 815-16, 123 P.3d 748, 750 (2005) (citing *State v. Catanio*, 120 Nev. 1030, 1033, 102 P.3d 588, 590 (2004)). "When interpreting a statute, [the Court] must first determine whether the language is ambiguous." *Id.* at 816, 750 (citing *State v. Quinn*, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001)). "When the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, [the Court] do[es] not look beyond its plain meaning, and [the Court] give[s] effect to its apparent intent unless that meaning was not clearly intended." *Id.*

NRS 179.1173(5) is clear and unambiguous. The court need only look to its plain meaning when applying it to Mr. Fergason's case.

4. Nevada's Forfeiture Statute has Three Components: Criminal Activity, Proceeds, Clear and Convincing Evidentiary Burden.

Nevada's Forfeiture statute requires that a plaintiff: (1) prove by clear and convincing evidence that (2) the proceeds were "derived directly or indirectly" from (3) criminal activity. NRS 179.1161, NRS 179.1173(3) and NRS

179.1164(a). In granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, the district court incorrectly concluded that the plaintiff proved by clear and convincing evidence that the money in Mr. Fergason's bank account was derived directly or indirectly from criminal activity. While elements (2) and (3) are discussed in the next section, the issue regarding the evidentiary burden will be addressed here.

In addition to viewing the evidence in a light favorable to Mr. Fergason (as the non-moving party) this Court should view that evidence through the "prism" of the clear and convincing evidentiary burden.

When a court rules on a motion for summary judgment, "the judge must view the evidence presented through the prism of the substantive evidentiary burden." *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 254* (1986). Thus, if the moving party must prove the prima facie elements of its case by clear and convincing evidence, then the judge must view the evidence and arguments in the motion for summary judgment through a clear and convincing evidentiary burden. *See Id.* In *Anderson*, the court reasoned that a judge reviewing a motion for summary judgment must consider whether a jury could reasonably find for either party "by the quality and quantity of evidence required by the governing law." *Id.* Thus, where a plaintiff had to prove actual malice by clear and convincing evidence "the appropriate summary judgment question [was] whether the evidence in the record could support a reasonable jury finding either that the plaintiff has

shown actual malice by clear and convincing evidence or that the plaintiff has not." *Id.* at 255—56.

Nevada courts have followed the United States Supreme Court in using the clear and convincing evidentiary burden in summary judgment orders, albeit sub silento. In Bulbman, Inc. v. Nevada Bell, the plaintiff appealed an order for summary judgment on his fraud claim. 108 Nev. 105, 825 P.2d 588. The court reasoned that the plaintiff had the burden of proving each element of the fraud claim by clear and convincing evidence but failed to establish fraud under that standard. See Id. at 592. Indeed, the plaintiff had presented evidence to support his claim, but the Supreme Court agreed with the trial court that the evidence was insufficient. Id. (See also Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc., 114 Nev. 441, 956 P.2d 1382, 1386 (1998) (The court again asserted that Nevada Law requires plaintiffs to prove fraudulent representation claims by clear and convincing evidence, and that plaintiff had "the burden of proving each and every element of his fraudulent misrepresentation claim by clear and convincing evidence.")) In order to conclude the plaintiff had not met its clear and convincing evidentiary burden, the Court must have viewed plaintiff's evidence through the "prism" of the clear and convincing evidentiary burden. How else could it have determined that the plaintiff had not met its burden?

In this case, Metro had the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Fergason was required to forfeit \$121,216.36. NRS 179.1173(3). Las Vegas Metro's only evidence at the hearing for summary judgment in the forfeiture proceeding consisted of (1) Mr. Fergason's felony conviction and (2) Ms. Trevarthen's testimony at the Grand Jury, Mr. Monroe's trial, and Mr. Fergason's trial. APP 24—28.

Metro used Ms. Trevarthen testimony to show that a majority of the items seized by Metro were stolen and that the money in her accounts "was just cash that was made through selling the stolen property." APP 93, 118, and 120. However, all of this testimony is directed at *Ms. Trevarthen*'s bank account and the money in *her* house. Metro introduced no testimony regarding the origin of the money in Mr. Fergason's Bank account. In fact, the only testimony regarding Mr. Fergason in the forfeiture proceeding was that he never hid the fact that he was committing burglaries and that during the time Ms. Trevarthen knew Mr. Fergason, he only worked for a moving company for a few months. APP 107—08.

This court, in reviewing the order for summary judgment, should view the evidence presented through the "prism" of the clear and convincing evidentiary burden. *See Bulbman*. With no evidence of the source of the money seized from Mr. Fergason's account, the appropriate question for this court is whether a reasonable jury could find that the money in Mr. Fergason's account was derived

from criminal activity by clear and convincing evidence. When viewed through this prism, this Court should conclude that there are genuine issues of material fact concerning the source of Mr. Fergason's money and this Court should remand this case to the district court for a hearing on the facts.

- B. NRS 179.1173(5) ESTOPS ONLY THE FACTS NECESSARY TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION IN A CRIMINAL PROCEEDING FROM RE-LITIGATION IN THE FORFEITURE PROCEEDING.
 - The Factors Necessary for the Proper Application of Issue Preclusion
 NRS 179.1173(5) states that:

The plaintiff is not required to plead or prove that a claimant has been charged with or convicted of any criminal offense. If proof of such a conviction is made, and it is shown that the judgment of conviction has become final, the proof is, as against any claimant, conclusive evidence of all facts necessary to sustain the conviction.

Under NRS 179.1173(5), if a claimant is convicted of a criminal offense, the statute precludes him from re-litigating the criminal offense in the forfeiture proceeding. Thus, if the claimant's criminal activity is connected to the seized property, the statute precludes him from challenging the criminal conviction in the civil forfeiture proceeding. In this manner, NRS 179.1173(5) is a codification of issue preclusion in forfeiture proceedings.

When a Court addresses issues in an earlier suit that arise in a later suit between the same parties, it must consider whether issue preclusion applies. *Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 194 P.3d 709, 711 (2008) (citing *University of Nevada*

v. Tarkanian, 110 Nev. 581, 598, 879 P.2d 1180, 1191 (1994)). Courts apply issue preclusion to "conserve judicial resources, maintain consistency, and avoid harassment or oppression of the adverse party." *Hiroko Alcantara v. Wal-Mart* Stores, Inc. 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 28, *6 (2014) (citing Berkson v. LePome, 126 Nev._____, 245 P.3d 560, 566 (2010). A court may apply issue preclusion only when there is a common issue between two cases that "was actually decided and necessary to the judgment in the earlier suit." Five Star Capital Corp. citing Tarkanian at 599, 879 P.2d at 1191. The doctrine of issue preclusion "provides that any issue that was actually and necessarily litigated in one action will be estopped from being relitigated in a subsequent suit." *Id.* (emphasis added) Furthermore, "[i]ssue preclusion may apply 'even though the causes of action are substantially different, if the same fact issue is presented." Alcantara at *8 quoting LaForge v. State, Univ. and Cmty. Coll. Sys. Of Nev., 116 Nev. 415, 420, 997 P.2d 130, 134 (2000) (quoting Clark v. Clark, 80 Nev. 52, 56, 389 P.2d 69, 71 (1964)).

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