Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 382-0711 FAX: (702) 382-5816

10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

1 **Electronically Filed** BRYAN FERGASON, 2 Nov 13 2014 09:38 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman 3 Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court 4 Case No.: 5 62357 VS. 6 LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN 7 POLICE DEPARTMENT, Appeal from The Eighth Judicial 8 District Court, The Honorable Douglas Respondent. E. Smith Presiding 9

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING	CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT
Micah S. Echols, Esq.	ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar No. 8437	Steven B. Wolfson
10001 Park Run Drive	Clark County District Attorney

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

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

1

2

3

4

5

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

A. FERGASON HAS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY DEMONSTRATE THAT HE HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE LVMPD'S CIVIL FORFEITURE.

Fergason lacks standing to claim any of the forfeited property because in his answer he failed to "describe the interest which the claimant asserts in the property," as required by NRS 179.1171(5).⁹⁵ Notably, standing is an issue of subject matter jurisdiction that can be raised at any time.⁹⁶ Since Fergason never alleged any interest in the forfeited property, he lacks standing to make any challenges, and the District Court's forfeiture order should be affirmed.⁹⁷

1. The Plain Language of NRS 179.1171(5) Required Fergason to Describe in His Answer Any Interest He May Have Had in the Funds Seized from Bank of America.

The construction of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. 98 The "court first looks to the plain language of the statute." 99 If the

Page 18 of 42

⁹⁵ ROA 1:42–44.

⁹⁶ See Applera Corp. v. MP Biomedicals, LLC, 93 Cal. Rptr.3d 178, 192 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted).

⁹⁷ See, e.g., U.S. v. \$133,420.00 in U.S. Currency, 672 F.3d 629, 640 (9th Cir. 2012) ("Louis never offered any explanation of how he came to possess the money seized from his vehicle, and an unexplained possessory interest is insufficient to establish standing at any stage of a forfeiture proceeding.").

A.F. Constr. Co. v. Virgin River Casino, 118 Nev. 699, 703, 56 P.3d 887, 890 (2002) (citing SIIS v. United Exposition Services Co., 109 Nev. 28, 30, 846 P.2d 294, 295 (1993)).

⁹⁹ <u>A.F. Constr. Co.</u>, 118 Nev. at 703, 56 P.3d at 890 (citing <u>Salas v. Allstate</u> <u>Rent-A-Car, Inc.</u>, 116 Nev. 1165, 1168, 14 P.3d 511, 513–514 (2000)).

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 382-0711 FAX: (702) 382-5816

11

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

23

4

5

statutory language fails to address the issue, this Court will then construe the statute according to that which reason and public policy would indicate the Legislature intended.¹⁰⁰

The Legislature's intent is the primary consideration when interpreting an ambiguous statute.¹⁰¹ When construing an ambiguous statutory provision, this Court determines the meaning of the words used in a statute by examining the context and the spirit of the law or the causes which induced the Legislature to enact it.¹⁰² In conducting this analysis, "[t]he entire subject matter and policy may be involved as an interpretive aid."¹⁰³ Accordingly, this Court will consider "the statute's multiple legislative provisions as a whole."¹⁰⁴

Courts have a duty to construe statutes as a whole so that all provisions are considered together and, to the extent practicable, reconciled and harmonized.¹⁰⁵ In addition, this Court will not render any part of the statute

¹⁰⁰ <u>A.F. Constr. Co.</u>, 118 Nev. at 703, 56 P.3d at 890 (citing <u>State, Dep't Mtr. Vehicles v. Vezeris</u>, 102 Nev. 232, 236, 720 P.2d 1208, 1211 (1986)).

¹⁰¹ Cleghorn v. Hess, 109 Nev. 544, 548, 853 P.2d 1260, 1262 (1993).

¹⁰² <u>Leven v. Frey</u>, 123 Nev. 399, 405, 168 P.3d 712, 716 (2007) (internal quotation marks omitted).

¹⁰³ <u>Id.</u> (internal quotation marks omitted).

¹⁰⁴ <u>Id.</u>

²²

 ^{105 &}lt;u>Id.</u>; <u>Southern Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark County</u>, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117
 P.3d 171, 173 (2005).

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 702) 382-0711 FAX: (702) 382-5816

3

10

11

12

13

18

19

20

21

meaningless, and will not read the statute's language so as to produce absurd or unreasonable results. 106

In the instant case, the plain language of NRS 179.1171(5) required 4 Fergason to not only admit or deny the averments in LVMPD's forfeiture complaint, but Fergason was also required "in short and plain terms, describe the interest which the claimant asserts in the property." Notably, this requirement is preceded by the term "shall," which calls for a mandatory requirement. 107 Fergason's answer very clearly does not contain any claim to any of the property seized by LVMPD. 108

2. Due to Fergason's Failure to Describe Any Interest He America, He Lacks Standing to Challenge LVMPD's Forfeiture.

Since Fergason never described his interest in the funds seized from Bank of America, he lacks standing to challenge LVMPD's forfeiture. 14 15 | Standing is jurisdictional, and can be raised for the first time on appeal. 109 16 Issues of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, even for the first time on appeal, and are not waivable. 110 Even the United States Supreme Court

¹⁰⁹ See Applera Corp. v. MP Biomedicals, LLC, 93 Cal. Rptr.3d 178, 192 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted).

¹⁰⁶ Leven, 123 Nev. at 405, 168 P.3d at 716.

¹⁰⁷ See NRS 0.025(1)(d): "Shall' imposes a duty to act."

¹⁰⁸ ROA 1:42–44.

¹¹⁰ See Swan v. Swan, 106 Nev. 464, 469, 796 P.2d 221, 224 (1990) (citations omitted).

14

15

16

17

20

21

23

3

has commented that standing must "persist throughout all stages of litigation."111

As a general matter, standing is the legal right to set judicial 4 machinery in motion. 112 Other courts looking at standing in the context of civil forfeiture proceedings have required claimants to explain how they came 6 into possession of the seized funds or other property. The claimant must assert either an ownership interest or a possessory interest, and the claim must 8 be explicit. 114 The Ninth Circuit has also explained that while the government bears the burden of proving that the property is subject to forfeiture, the burden 10 of establishing standing is on the claimant. Similar to the Ninth Circuit's holding, the Seventh Circuit has also concluded that absent the filing of a claim to a property subject to forfeiture, a "putative claimant is not a party to the 13 action." 116 As such, a putative claimant lacks standing to seek relief from, for example, a default judgment. Since Fergason undeniably failed to comply

Already, LLC v. Nike, Inc., 133 S.Ct. 721, 726 (2013).

¹¹² Secretary of State v. Nevada State Legislature, 120 Nev. 456, 460, 93 P.3d 746, 749 (2004).

¹¹³ See, e.g., U.S. v. \$133,420.00 in U.S. Currency, 672 F.3d 629, 640 (9th Cir. 2012) ("Louis never offered any explanation of how he came to possess the 19 money seized from his vehicle, and an unexplained possessory interest is insufficient to establish standing at any stage of a forfeiture proceeding.").

¹¹⁴ Id. at 643.

¹¹⁵ <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted).

¹¹⁶ U.S. v. 8136 S. <u>Dobson Street</u>, 125 F.3d 1076, 1082 (7th Cir. 1997).

¹¹⁷ I<u>d.</u>

5

6

7

11

13

14

20

21

with the mandatory requirement of NRS 179.1171(5), the Court should conclude that he lacks standing, thus requiring the District Court's summary judgment order to be affirmed.

В. FERGASON'S FAILURE TO RAISE HIS PRECLUSION ARGUMENTS IN THE DISTRICT COURT PROHIBITS HIM FROM DOING SO NOW FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, WHICH, IN ANY EVENT, DO NOT REQUIRE REVERSAL.

Fergason cannot raise his preclusion arguments for the first time on appeal, which, in any event, do not require reversal. Fergason simply cannot overcome the language of NRS 179.1173(5), which states, "If proof of such a conviction is made, and it is shown that the judgment of conviction has become final, the proof is, as against any claimant, conclusive evidence of all facts necessary to sustain the conviction." Despite the controlling language of this statute, Fergason suggests that an analysis of preclusion principles somehow changes the outcome. However, even if preclusion principles were applied, in 15 contrast to the plain language of the statute, Fergason would be barred from claims that he could have made in the criminal proceedings where he was convicted of various counts of conspiracy to possess stolen property and/or to commit burglary (NRS 205.275, NRS 199.480) and possession of stolen property (NRS 205.275) and pled guilty (pursuant to Alford) of attempt

See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054-1055, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008) (concluding that for claim preclusion, the preclusive effect applies to "all grounds of recovery that were or could have been brought in the first case.") (citation omitted).

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 382-0711 FAX: (702) 382-5816

11

14

3

4

5

burglary (NRS 193.330, NRS 205.060). Therefore, Fergason's preclusion arguments do not serve to disturb the District Court's summary judgment order.

Since Fergason Did Not Challenge the Application of 1. NRS 179.1173(5) in the District Court, He Cannot Do So Now for the First Time on Appeal.

This Court has prohibited the raising of issues in the District Court without any factual support for the position, 120 which is similar to not even raising the legal argument. 121 Very simply, Fergason's opposition to LVMPD's 8 motion for summary judgment did not raise any preclusion arguments. 122 Instead, Fergason claimed that Trevarthen's trial testimony was inadmissible and unreliable. 123 Since Fergason did not mention in the District Court any of

¹¹⁹ ROA 2:371–375, 383–384.

¹²⁰ See Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nev., Inc., 245 P.3d 542, 544–546 (Nev. 2010).

¹²¹ See e.g., Delgado v. Am. Family Ins. Group, 217 P.3d 563, 567 (Nev. 2009) (declining to address argument because issue was not raised below and 16 appellant not entitled to raise it for the first time on appeal); Diamond Enters., Inc. v. Lau, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997) ("It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court."); Montesano v. Donrey Media Group, 99 Nev. 644, 18 650, 668 P.2d 1081, 1085 n. 5 (1983) ("Arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered."); Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 19 623 P.2d 981 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be 20 considered on appeal."); Williams v. Zellhoefer, 89 Nev. 579, 580, 517 P.2d 789, 789 (1973) ("If appellant presents no argument or authorities in support of an alleged error in the court below, this court will not consider the assignment.").

¹²² ROA 3:663–667.

¹²³ ROA 3:664.

Para Vegas, Nevada 89145

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

10

11

12

13

14

20

22

2

3

4

5

7

the preclusion arguments that he now raises, the Court should simply disregard this portion of Fergason's opening brief.

2. <u>In Any Event, Fergason's Preclusion Arguments Would Not Warrant Disturbing Summary Judgment, Even if They Had Been Properly Presented.</u>

Even if the Court were to consider Fergason's new preclusion arguments, they do not warrant disturbing summary judgment. In <u>Five Star</u>, this Court enumerated tests for both claim preclusion and issue preclusion. For claim preclusion to apply, the following three factors must be satisfied: (1) the parties or their privies are the same; (2) the final judgment is valid; and (3) the subsequent action is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the first case.¹²⁴ The Court also commented that for claim preclusion, the preclusive effect applies to "all grounds of recovery that were or could have been brought in the first case."

With regard to issue preclusion, this Court enumerated the following four factors to be satisfied: (1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior litigation; and (4) the issue was actually and necessarily litigated. 126

¹²⁴ <u>See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby</u>, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054–1055, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008) (enumerating claim preclusion and issue preclusion tests).

¹²⁵ <u>Id.</u> (citations omitted).

Five Star, 124 Nev. at 1055, 194 P.3d at 713–714 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

14

17

1

Of course, if the Court were to look beyond the statutory language of NRS 179.1173(5) and apply principles of claim preclusion, Fergason's newly-minted preclusion argument would fail because he most certainly could have raised his claim to the funds seized from Bank of America. Since he did not, claim preclusion would prevent him from doing so now. Additionally, Fergason is a party to both actions, and the final judgment from Fergason's criminal case is valid, having been affirmed by this Court.

Principles of issue preclusion similarly do not warrant disturbing the District Court's summary judgment order. Although Fergason offers a token no-substantial-evidence argument, the evidence presented in the criminal trials satisfied the burden to operate as a conclusive presumption that the seized forfeited **NRS** property according to 179.1173(5). Notably, was NRS 179.1164(1)(a) makes property subject to seizure and forfeiture that is "attributable to the commission or attempted commission of any felony." The following evidence demonstrates that LVMPD satisfied this burden to a clear and convincing standard, as outlined in NRS 179.1173(3):

(A) LVMPD's execution of the search warrants, where known stolen property was located, resulted in evidence that then led LVMPD to Bank of America accounts that were held by Tonya Trevarthen, Damon Monroe, Bobby

21

20

²² 127 <u>Id.</u>, 124 Nev. at 1054–1055, 194 P.3d at 713 (citations omitted).

 $^{23 \}parallel^{128} \text{RA} \ 3:678-685.$

5

8

9

11

14

Holmes, or Fergason.¹²⁹ This evidence included receipts showing Fergason's Bank of America accounts. 130

- LVMPD officers also executed a search warrant for Fergason's safe deposit box at the Westcliff Bank of America branch in Las Vegas. 131 The safe deposit box contained collector's gold coins and paper money, as well as large prehistoric shark teeth. 132 Fergason does not challenge LVMPD's seizure or forfeiture of the items contained within his Bank of America safe deposit box.
- Trevarthen testified that Monroe did not have a job and that her (C) earnings did not cover the monthly bills for their household. Fergason's only job was with a moving company, and he only held the job for a few months. 134 In addition to his storage unit paid for by Trevarthen, Fergason also parked his car at Trevarthen's home and kept some of his belongings there. 135
- Trevarthen also explained that after she had assisted in loading (D) 15 stolen property into Fergason's Charleston storage unit, both Monroe and 16 Fergason asked her advice about where to store cash and the types of accounts

¹²⁹ RA 1:173–174. 17

^{18 | 130} RA 3:469–470.

¹³¹ RA 3:474. 19

^{20 132} RA 3:475.

²¹ ¹³³ RA 1:71.

¹³⁴ RA 2:394.

¹³⁵ RA 1:77–78.

18

2

3

4

5

to use because Trevarthen had worked in a bank and had already set up some accounts. 136

In Supreme Court Case No. 52877, this Court affirmed Fergason's (E) convictions and explained,

The officers who executed search warrants on Fergason's storage units, apartment, bank accounts, and safety deposit box also testified. These searches resulted in the discovery of evidence that directly or inferentially linked Fergason to the crimes of burglary and/or possession of stolen property. . . . From this evidence the jury could have concluded Fergason conspired with all three of his alleged accomplices to commit burglary and/or possess stolen property. 13

LVMPD's summary judgment motion reiterated that "cash would (F) accumulate in the house" ¹³⁸ and that Trevarthen would deposit this cash into her Bank of America accounts. 139 Additionally, Trevarthen also testified that Monroe also had access to her accounts, as well as the ability to transfer funds out of her accounts. 140

In summary, the Court should disregard Fergason's preclusion arguments 16 raised for the first time on appeal. Yet, even if the Court considers these arguments, the Court should conclude that there was sufficient evidence to

¹³⁶ RA 1:430. 19

¹³⁷ RA 3:678–685; see especially RA 3:680 (emphasis added).

²¹ ¹³⁸ ROA 2:413, 421.

²²

¹⁴⁰ ROA 2:421.

15

18

20

23

2

3

4

5

6

demonstrate that the funds in the Bank of America account were subject to seizure and forfeiture.

C. FERGASON'S FAILURE TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE IN OPPOSITION TO LVMPD'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OPERATES AS AN ADMISSION THAT THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT FOR TRIAL.

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